IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 22-0389

KELLY DEAN WORTHAN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA,

Appellee.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Montana Twenty-First Judicial District Court,
Ravalli County, the Honorable Jennifer B. Lint, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

CAITLIN CARPENTER
Montana Innocence Project
P.O. Box 7607
Missoula, MT 59807
(406) 890-0054
caiti@mtinnocenceproject.org

SARAH LOCKWOOD
Tipp, Coburn & Associates, P.C.
2200 Brooks Street
Missoula, MT 59801
(406) 549-5186
sarah@tcsattorneys.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TAMMY PLUBELL
Montana Attorney General's Office
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
(406) 890-0054
tplubell@mt.gov

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Did the District Court err in determining that admissibility is a prerequisite to establish a *Brady* claim and to receive postconviction relief?**
- II. Did the District Court err in finding no evidence existed to support the allegations made in the Petition and Motion except for an affidavit it deemed unreliable, when Appellant submitted voluminous evidence to corroborate the allegations?**
- III. Did the District Court abuse its discretion in failing to rule on Appellant's discovery motion, which provided good cause to believe the State possessed evidence favorable and material to his claim of innocence?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Kelly Dean Worthan (Kelly), was convicted of two counts of sexual intercourse without consent in violation of Montana Code Annotated § 45-5-502, two counts of incest in violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-507, and one count of tampering with a witness in violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 45-7-206. He was sentenced to 130 years in prison with 60 years suspended. (DC Doc 187). Kelly's two daughters, O.W. and K.W. were the victims.

His convictions were affirmed on appeal. *State v. Worthan*, 2006 MT 147, 332 Mont. 401, 138 P.3d 805. Kelly filed a petition for postconviction relief, asserting a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, which was denied by the District Court and affirmed on appeal. *Worthan v. State*, 2010 MT 98, 356 Mont.

206, 232 P.3d 380. In 2011 Kelly filed a pro se writ of habeas corpus under 28 U.S.C. §2254, which was denied in Federal District Court, and which the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed. *Worthan v. AG of Mont.*, 514 F. App'x. 671 (9th Cir. 2013).

After eleven years of no contact with his children, Kelly believed he was free to communicate with them once they were adults due to a discrepancy between the transcript at sentencing and the written judgment. (Appendix D: Ex. N Transcript of First Revocation Hearing, 8). In 2015 Kelly had a short phone call with his youngest daughter, K.W. For this, 10 years of Kelly's suspended sentence was revoked. (DC Doc 253). Kelly's older daughter, O.W., requested at the revocation hearing that the no contact order be lifted so that she could talk with her dad at her discretion. (Appendix D at 55-66). After chastising O.W., the District Court said it would not consider her request until Kelly obtained a new psychosexual evaluation with a low-risk "tier 1" designation. (Appendix E: Ex. C:2019.11.26 Affidavit of O.W. (now O.B.) 14-16; Appendix D at 60, 64).

In 2014, B.T.F was convicted of raping O.W. based on assaults that took place at her foster home prior to and during Kelly's trial. (Appendix F: *State v. B.T.F.* Sentencing Transcript).

Following his first revocation hearing, Kelly moved the Court to appoint counsel to investigate a potential recantation from O.W. (which by virtue of the no-

contact order, Kelly was prohibited from doing himself). The District Court appointed B.T.F.'s attorney to represent Kelly, who declared a conflict. The District Court declined to appoint new counsel¹. This Court affirmed the decision. *State v. Worthan*, 2017 MT 74N, 387 Mont. 538, 391 P.3d 99.

Faced with a Hobson's choice of (1) staying quiet and dying in prison while serving the remainder of a sentence for a crime he did not commit; or (2) attempting to prove his innocence by having a third party encourage O.W. to come forward with the truth, he chose the latter. Consequently, in 2018 the District Court revoked the remainder of Kelly's suspended sentence (DC Doc 286). The previously concurrent sentences were made consecutive for Count II (sexual intercourse without consent, 60 years) and Count VI (tampering, 10 years). (DC Doc 286).

Thereafter, Kelly applied to the Montana Innocence Project, which agreed to represent Kelly in November 2019. Kelly filed a Motion for New Trial ("Motion") pursuant to the "interests of justice" standard found at Montana Code Annotated § 46-16-702(1) and second/subsequent Petition for Postconviction Relief with supporting a memorandum ("Petition") along with discovery motions on April 7, 2020. (Appendix C: Memorandum in Support of Petition for Postconviction Relief).

¹ Kelly requested 'private counsel', however, the intention behind his request was to obtain conflict-free counsel.

Over two years, Kelly filed numerous notices to the District Court requesting rulings. On June 20, 2022, Kelly moved for the appointment of a special master or standing master. (DC Doc 322). The next day, the District Court denied and dismissed the Petition. (DV Doc 12). In the corresponding criminal matter, the court denied all five of Kelly's pending motions in a single paragraph, by referring to the legal analysis set forth in the denial of the postconviction case. (Appendix A; Appendix B: DC Doc 323, Order). The court did not rule on the postconviction discovery motion.

Kelly filed a timely Notice of Appeal with this Court on July 19, 2022.

SUMMARY OF FACTS

When the State received allegations of incest against Kelly, it obtained legal custody and removed his children from his home immediately. Yet, when O.W. was being molested in foster care, it did nothing until after it achieved Kelly's conviction. In the face of State witnesses testifying to horrific details about what he did to his daughters, Kelly pleaded with the jury to recognize that someone else was abusing his children. He was right. The State failed to prosecute B.T.F. for raping O.W. until 10 years later. This, despite the fact that O.W. reported disclosing the abuse to her therapist and foster mother at the time. The therapist served as the State's primary expert witness. Information about B.T.F.'s case or O.W.'s claims of abuse were never disclosed to Kelly.

O.W. now avers she has no memory of Kelly abusing her, despite her clear memory of B.T.F.'s abuse, which would have occurred within days of each other. (Appendix E). Her affidavit is corroborated by B.T.F.'s conviction and the charging documents in that case. The fact that O.W. reported abuse to her therapist, the State's expert witness, during her time at the foster home is supported by the State's own sworn affidavit. (Appendix G, *Motion for Amended Information and Supporting Affidavit in State v. B.T.F.*, at 3:9-10).

FACTS

"Think of the terrible guilt she will have if it didn't happen and we're putting her through all this therapy. Think of the damage it's gonna do to her. Do you understand? I mean, if it happened the therapy is gonna work and she's gonna get through this but if we have to put her through that . . . Do you understand what I am saying? We're gonna have to put her through therapy again if this is a lie and she knows it's a lie it's gonna damage her a lot worse. . . I'm just saying that the harm that we do to put someone through all that deep therapy when they knew it was a lie, think how much damage that would be. It would be like putting you in jail when you didn't do it. Right?" -Chief Barnett interrogating Kelly Worthan, April 28, 2003 (Appendix Q at 35).

Background

Before Kelly was branded as a pedophile, he was a respected veteran who worked long hours to support his family. Tr. Transcr. vol. IV, 1071 (June 18, 2004); Tr. Transcr. vol. V, 1250-1251, 1256, 1260 (June 21, 2004). Kelly and his wife, Melissa, were not perfect parents. *Id.* at 1276. They married young and argued, but tried to shield the kids from their marital issues the best they could. *Id.*

at 1317. Despite their struggles, they both loved their three children. Tr. Transcr. vol. IV, 1071, 1081 (June 18, 2004); Tr. Transcr. vol. V, 1112, 1291 (June 21, 2004).

The children attended Stevensville Schools since late 2002 after moving to Montana from North Carolina mid-semester. Tr. Transcr. vol. III, 790, 795 (June 16, 2004). Even though the children were new to the area, O.W (the Worthans' oldest daughter) was able to make some friends. *Id.* at 787:20-25, 788:1-4.

O.W., age 9, attended a slumber party in April 2003, where her friend C.S. told O.W. she was molested. *Id.* at 731:12-15-734. In return, O.W. allegedly told C.S., "my dad does bad things to me." *Id.* at 726:2-6; 1361:2-12. C.S. relayed to her mother, Tammy, that O.W. had sex with her dad. *Id.* at 720:21-25.

Tammy told O.W.'s mom, Melissa, about the accusation, and though neither believed the accusation at the time, Melissa promptly scheduled a meeting with the school counselor the following Wednesday. Tr. Transcr. vol. III, 724:17-25, 725:1-16 (June 16, 2004); Tr. Transcr. vol. IV, 1115-1117, 1120:8 (June 18, 2004). Kelly came home after a long day of work on Tuesday, and checked the answering machine where he found a message from Tammy referencing O.W's claims. Tr. Transcr. vol. IV, 1117:19 (June 18, 2004); Tr. Transcr. vol. V, 1284 (June 21, 2004). Like any concerned parent, Kelly asked Melissa what was going on, and Melissa explained the situation. Tr. Transcr. vol. IV, 1117-1118 (June 18, 2004) .

O.W. had a history of telling “stories.” Tr. Transcr. vol. V, 1286:7-25 (June 21, 2004). Together, that evening, Melissa and Kelly sat down with O.W. and explained that they were concerned about what she had said because it could have repercussions she had not anticipated, like Kelly going to jail. Tr. Transcr. vol. V, 1320:5-10 (June 21, 2004).

Child Protection Supervisor with Child and Family Services (CFS), Shelly Verwolf (Verwolf), later received a report stating O.W. told someone that Kelly molested her. Tr. Transcr. vol. IV, 936:18-20 (June 18, 2004). In response, Verwolf conducted an unrecorded interview with O.W. in the principal’s office of her school, which she later testified confirmed the report. *Id.* at 938-939:5.

Verwolf removed all three siblings (O.W., K.W., and W.W) from school and took them to the Stevensville Police Department where she and Chief Barnett recorded interviews with O.W. and K.W. Tr. Transcr. vol. IV, 943, 994:1-7 (June 18, 2004).

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

With this in mind, it is particularly significant that the recorded interview memorializes leading questions:

Q: Did anything come out of his private parts?

A: (no audible answer)

Q: Okay. What did it look like? Did you see it or did you taste it or what happened?

A. Uhm I saw it.

Q. Okay, and what did it look like?

A. It looked like--kinda white stuff and it oooo like slime.

Q. Slimy? White slime stuff.

A. (no audible answer).” (Appendix I: Ex. O: 2003.04.28 Barnett Verwolf Interview of O.W. 11:32-12:3, 12:27-37, 13:8-23).

Importantly, K.W., flatly denied any abuse at this time, and in the two interviews to follow. Tr. Transcr. vol. IV, 944:24 (June 18, 2004).

Kelly went to the police station when he learned his children were there. Tr. Transcr. vol. V, 1296:5-25 (June 21, 2004). There, Kelly was interviewed by law enforcement about O.W.’s allegations. Kelly searched his brain to explain how O.W. would know details about sex. Kelly later testified that O.W. had inadvertently walked in while he and Melissa were having sex, which could have informed her sexual knowledge. *Id.* at 1315-1316. [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

After realizing his children were being placed in foster care, Kelly discussed having the children remain in his wife’s care, and offered to move to Missoula or

out of the county so long as the kids could stay with Melissa. Tr. Transcr. vol. V, 1305: 3-25 (June 21, 2004). Instead, the children were brought from the police station to a foster home run by Mya (Mya) and Kevin (Kevin) F. where they were three foster kids among 13 children. Mya and Kevin's 13-year-old biological son, B.T.F. lived in the home as well. Tr. Transcr. vol. V, 859:18-860:10 (June 21, 2004).

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

Years later, in 2014, B.T.F. pled guilty to raping O.W. [REDACTED] from April 2003 through September 2011. (Appendix F). O.W. explained that B.T.F. raped her every day from the time she entered foster care. (Appendix F. at 10:17). Even after the State removed O.W. and her siblings from Mya and Kevin's foster home, the State approved the children's return to the same foster home when their new placement required respite care. *Id.* at 11:14-23. B.T.F. continued to rape O.W. with impunity during these visits. *Id.*

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] an

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

Thus, for four months, O.W. endured daily rape without intervention, no doubt made more difficult by the fact that she was entirely isolated from her biological parents, who the State prohibited the children from seeing since they both maintained Kelly's innocence. Tr. Transcr. vol. IV, 1128:1-7 (June 18, 2004).

When O.W. was finally permitted to see a therapist in August 2003, Dr. Debra Ruggiero (Ruggiero) never conducted a session without Mya or Kevin present. Tr. Transcr. vol. III, 888:22-889:7 (June 16, 2004). [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] By this time, K.W. had denied her

father molested her in three separate interviews (Barnett/Verwolf, Dr. Cindy Miller, and Kay Frey) Tr. Transcr. vol. II, 481 (June 15, 2004); Tr. Transcr. vol. III, 616:8-25, 713-714, 833:4-9 (June 16, 2004). K.W.'s sudden contrary allegation was likely informed by the daily molestations in the bunkbed she shared with her sister. Tr. Transcr. vol. II, 470:19 (June 15, 2004).

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

The details of these sessions were not disclosed to defense counsel. (Appendix K: Affidavit of Kelly Worthan); (Appendix L: Affidavit of Trial Counsel, Kelli Sather); Tr. Transcr. vol. I, 242:2-4 (June 14, 2004). [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] This was just weeks before Kelly's trial was set to begin.

Kelly's trial began on June 14, 2004. Among other witnesses, the State called O.W., K.W., Dr. Ruggiero, Mya, and Verwolf. Neither Mya or Verwolf mentioned O.W.'s allegations against B.T.F. and CFS' ongoing investigation when they testified regarding the placement. Tr. Transcr. vol. III, (June 16, 2004) Tr. at 880:11-17); Tr. Transcr. vol. IV, 950:6-15 (June 18, 2004).

To the contrary, there was nothing but positive commentary about Mya, her influence on the girls, and the home she kept, bolstered by her own testimony that, "there's very little that can go on in my house without me knowing much to my older children's dismay." Tr. Transcr. vol. I, 862-864, 889:202-3 (June 14, 2004). Despite her prior request to remove the Worthan children, in her trial testimony, Mya didn't mention it, and left open the possibility of adopting the children. Tr. Transcr. vol. III, 880 (June 16, 2004). Verwolf claimed that Mya probably "needed a break" because she was stressed about the trial process. *Id.*; Tr. Transcr. vol. IV, 950:1-15 (June 18, 2004).

Evolution of O.W.'s Testimony

O.W.'s trial testimony was far more detailed than in her previous interviews. At trial, O.W. mentioned the act of intercourse or "going up and down" Tr. Transcr. vol. I, 274:15-25, 279 (June 14, 2004). She recalled, "He (Kelly) told me to open my mouth, and I did. Then he put his private into my mouth. Then— Then he did something that I don't remember." Tr. Transcr. vol. II, 331-332 (June

15, 2004). O.W. described what a penis looks like, and complained she felt pain during the sex acts. *Id.* at 377-378.

Despite the new details, there were some notable gaps in her testimony. O.W. testified for only thirty minutes on the first day, but in that time, she retorted, ‘I don’t remember’ twenty times, ‘say that again’ five times, and one time she said ‘say the other question’. Tr. Transcr. vol. I, 261:24 (June 14, 2004) O.W. could not recall if she saw ejaculate more than one time. Tr. Transcr. vol. II, 333 (June 15, 2004). Conflicting testimony was given about whether O.W. performed manual sex. *Id.* at 476. [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

When asked about the discrepancies in O.W.’s testimony, Ruggiero speculated that it was probably because O.W. was so nervous. *Id.* at 476:16-25-478.

O.W. testified that the sexual abuse by Kelly took place in the bedroom. Tr. Transcr. vol. II, 339-342 (June 15, 2004). She initially could not recall abuse occurring at other places. *Id.* After some leading, she claimed that the abuse also took place in the shower. *Id.* (see also Appendix G at 6:15-17 (B.T.F. abused O.W. in shower)).

Contrary to all of her trial testimony, O.W. now states under oath, “I am unsure whether Kelly Worthan sexually abused me.” (Appendix E, ¶11).

Evolution of K.W.’s testimony

K.W.’s trial testimony was very similar to O.W.’s testimony. K.W. testified that “he put his private spot in mine,” and “he put his private spot in my mouth.” Tr. Transcr. vol. II, 406:1-8, 410:1-18 (June 15, 2004). Both girls referenced “white stuff” coming out of the penis during the abuse. *Id.* at 332, 411. K.W. gave conflicting testimony as to whether the molestation involved her buttocks. *Id.* at 423:4-10, 434.

Testimony of Expert Dr. Ruggiero

Dr. Ruggiero provided testimony to counter the allegations that the children were “coached” into making the allegations. *Id.* at 460. [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

“[O.W.] described disclosing the abuse by Defendant (B.T.F.) . . . to her therapist during the same time period, but reports now that ‘the therapist didn’t do anything.’” (Appendix G at 6:17-20). This is consistent with the lack of testimony Ruggiero provided regarding sexual abuse allegations against B.T.F. in Kelly’s case.

No physical evidence was provided at Kelly’s trial which was consistent with sexual abuse. Tr. Transcr. vol. III, 661, 677 (June 16, 2004).

In contrast, at B.T.F.’s sentencing, the State made the following representations:

“[O.W.] was abused most of the time she was in that home until she was removed. Even when she went back for occasional weekends she was abused. She was given a clean bill of health in April of 2003, right around the time she was placed in (Mya and Kevin’s foster) home. And now she’s testified today, Your Honor, that she has so much scarring that she is unlikely to be able to carry a child to term, which is something that she wants to do.”
(Appendix F at 26:22-25, 27:1-6. (*See also* O.W.’s testimony re: fertility

issues and scarring at 10:6-16; 13) last name edited for confidentiality).

After the Trial and New Evidence

On June 21, 2004, Kelly was convicted of all charges. The children were removed from their foster home the next day. (Appendix M, entry 6/22/04); (App. G at 5:2-3; 6:21-22).

In 2015, O.W. attempted to explain to the Court that she questioned Kelly’s conviction, stating, “things were not adding up.” (Appendix D at 47:21). In response, the Court thoroughly questioned and chastised her, which had a chilling effect on O.W. coming forward to recant her prior testimony. (Appendix E at 14-16); (*see also* Appendix D at 55-66). The Court would not consider lifting the contact restriction between Kelly and O.W. until Kelly was given a low-risk designation by a licensed psychosexual evaluator. (Appendix D at 55-66).

At some point thereafter a law enforcement officer talked with O.W. and he relayed O.W. no longer wished to speak with Kelly.²

² The State disclosed Officer Jesse Jessop’s affidavit dated August 11, 2020 in its Response to Kelly’s Motion. No contemporaneous notes were provided to corroborate the officer’s recollection of events, which occurred in January 2018.

Upon receipt of the pleadings in B.T.F.'s case, Kelly sent the State a letter demanding disclosure of the evidence related to B.T.F.'s sexual assault of O.W. (Appendix N: Letter from Kelly Worthan to Fulbright dated April 13, 2019). The State's *Motion for Leave to File Amended Information and Affidavit in Support* in the B.T.F. case demonstrates the State's knowledge and non-disclosure of B.T.F.'s ongoing sexual violence against O.W. ***before, during, and after Kelly's criminal trial.*** (Appendix G). The Second Amended Information against B.T.F. shows the State's intent to call Kevin, Mya, O.W., and Ruggiero as witnesses against B.T.F.. (Appendix O: Exhibit I: DC-13-76/Doc.67: 2014.09.10 Second Amended Information.)

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