IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 22-0389

---

KELLY DEAN WORTHAN,

Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA,

Respondent and Appellee.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

---

On Appeal from the Montana Twenty-First Judicial District Court,  
Ravalli County, The Honorable Jennifer B. Lint, Presiding

---

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN  
Montana Attorney General  
ROY BROWN  
Assistant Attorney General  
215 North Sanders  
P.O. Box 201401  
Helena, MT 59620-1401  
Phone: 406-444-2026  
Fax: 406-444-3549  
roy.brown2@mt.gov

WILLIAM FULBRIGHT  
Ravalli County Attorney  
205 Bedford Street, Suite C  
Hamilton, MT 59840

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT  
AND APPELLEE

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

Fadely was sentenced in November 2014. Extraordinarily, through Worthan's violations of his no contact conditions again in 2015-2016 by reaching O.W. through third parties from prison jail calls, Worthan told a third party to make "contact with one of two specific lawyers who are associated with the Montana Innocence Project" and attempted to pass information to O.W. through third parties to submit an affidavit. (Jessop, Aff. at ¶ 8.) On June 6, 2016, Worthan asserted in a pro se filing "newly discovered evidence":

Specifically, this "recantation" made by the victim in this case on numerous occasions. The victim (witness) stated that the crime did not occur by the defendant. In fact, the victim was being sexually abused before and during Defendant's trial by Brandon Thomas Fadely who is currently serving time in Shelby, MT, for sexually abusing the victim in Defendant's case. Cause No. DC-13-76.

(Doc. 260 at 2.) Worthan also referenced "transcripts" from the Fadely case. (*Id.*) Thus, by Worthan's own admission, by June 6, 2016, Worthan personally affirmed that "the victim" offered a "recantation" on "numerous occasions" and referenced his knowledge of Fadely's abuse—all while referring to his contacts at the Innocence Project to third parties and contacting O.W. from prison. Resultingly, Worthan had one year to file a PCR petition, but did not file it until April 7, 2020. And at the latest, even as a pro se litigant, Worthan became aware of what was required to pursue his claims by March 28, 2017. At that time, Worthan was on notice by this Court that his error in his previous filing was requesting counsel without first "fil[ing] a petition for postconviction relief" in

district court. *Worthan*, 2017 MT 74N, ¶¶ 6-7. Even by then, his 2020 petition would still be untimely under the NDE time bar.

Here, since the district court did not order the State to respond to Worthan's PCR petition below, this appeal is the first opportunity for the State to raise the procedural defense. This Court should hold that the NDE time bar constitutes an additional and independent basis supplementing the district court's dismissal of Worthan's petition. Thus, Worthan's second petition fails at the outset.

### **C. Worthan's petition fails to identify any reliable NDE.**

Even assuming Worthan's successive petition alleging NDE is "timely filed," the district court must "determine if the evidence is actually 'newly discovered.'" *Garding*, ¶ 39 (citing *Marble v. State*, 2015 MT 242, ¶¶ 34, 36, 380 Mont. 366, 355 P.3d 742).

As a threshold consideration, the district court must examine whether the alleged NDE is reliable under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102. *State v. Beach*, 2013 MT 130, ¶¶ 8, 23, 370 Mont. 163, 302 P.3d 47 (Beach II). Next, the district court must "utilize the very test set forth in § 46-21-102" [the NDE PCR statute] in examining the petition to consider whether the evidence is newly discovered. *Marble*, ¶ 36. In other words, the district court is to consider whether "in light of the evidence as a whole" the petition would establish that "petitioner did not

engage in the criminal conduct for which the petitioner was convicted[.]” Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2).

For a framework, a district court may “seek guidance from [this Court’s] case law addressing various forms of [NDE], such as our precedent with respect to recantations[.]” *Marble*, ¶ 36. Additionally, a court may consider the “first four factors of the *Clark* test<sup>6</sup>” in evaluating the claim. *Id.* A court must also consider new evidence claims in light of all the evidence as a whole, old and new. *Marble*, ¶¶ 35-39; *Beach II*, ¶ 20. And it is “up to the district court to determine” whether “the proof and evidence will be weighed by the court itself[.]” *Marble*, ¶ 37.

**1. O.W.’s affidavit is not reliable evidence that Worthan did not sexually abuse O.W. and K.W.**

**a. Faded memory**

As an initial matter, O.W.’s affidavit is not a recantation; rather her explanation that the Fadely abuse was “much clearer” in her mind evinces a fading of memories with the passage of more time. “Recantation requires a [person] to renounce and withdraw the prior statement.” *United States v. Wiggin*, 700 F.3d 1204, 1216 (9th Cir. 2012.) Even assuming for arguments sake O.W.’s affidavit is

---

<sup>6</sup> *State v. Clark*, 2005 MT 330, ¶ 37, 330 Mont. 8, 125 P.3d 1099. The district court found that Worthan’s evidence failed *Clark* factors 3 and 4, which are: “(3) the evidence must be material to the issues at trial; and (4) the evidence must be neither cumulative nor merely impeaching.” *Clark*, ¶ 34. Merely impeaching evidence is when it is “collateral in nature and does not have a direct bearing on the merits of the trial under review.” *Id.* ¶ 25. (citation omitted).

a recantation, it would still be “viewed with great suspicion[,]” especially here because “recantations by child victims of sexual abuse are notoriously unreliable and suspect” and “reality could appropriately contribute to a district court’s evaluation of the credibility of a recantation in those circumstances[.]” *Clark*, ¶ 37 (citations omitted). Considered on its face alone, O.W.’s affidavit does not establish that Worthan “did not engage in the criminal conduct” for which he was convicted.

Worthan offers that because O.W. suffered sexual abuse from Fadely “during the trial preparation,” both O.W. and K.W. must have happened to “conflate” Fadely’s abuse with Worthan’s abuse. (Pet.’s Br. at 17.) But O.W. consistently described Worthan’s abuse and repeatedly implicated Worthan *before* being placed in the Fadely household.<sup>7</sup> At this time, she told at least seven people about Worthan’s abuse in the Stevensville apartment, including Courtney, Tammy, Linda, Shelly, the forensic medical examiner Dr. Mielke, the forensic interviewer Dr. Miller, and Chief Barnett. (Trial Tr. at 474, 659, 700, 720, 783, 820, 941, 995.)

In O.W.’s detailed disclosures, she unequivocally implicated her “dad.” O.W.’s trial testimony was consistent with her prior disclosures. And unlike

---

<sup>7</sup> Indeed, in addition to abuse in Stevensville, O.W. remembered Worthan sexually abusing her as far back as when she was a first grader in Texas.

O.W.’s account of Fadely’s abuse in a bunkbed or while playing “hide and seek” at the Fadely house, O.W. described Worthan’s abuse as occurring in his bedroom and bathroom in their family apartment. O.W. testified vividly as to the details of the items in Worthan’s bedroom, the bedroom door’s lock “clicking” when Worthan locked her in, what Worthan said while he was abusing her, and how Worthan ordered her out of the room after every instance of abuse. O.W.’s consistent, repeated disclosures established at trial she did not confuse the subsequent abuse from her 12-year-old foster brother with her adult father’s repeated acts of sexual abuse. And Worthan does not argue that K.W. ever suffered sexual abuse from Fadely and mixed up her father for Fadely.

Further, the genesis of O.W. questioning whether Worthan abused her is based on a mistaken belief of what occurred at Fadely’s 2014 sentencing. As O.W. explained, her new belief was based on a witness who purportedly said that prior to Fadely’s abuse “there was no sexual abuse whatsoever.” But that’s not what happened at Fadely’s sentencing. Instead, a witness who reviewed the forensic medical doctor’s April 2003 physical examination of O.W. merely relayed that O.W.’s anal/genital findings were “normal as of that date.” (Pet. App. F at 19.) But the examining doctor had testified at Worthan’s 2004 trial that while O.W.’s physical exam was normal, that was true with 90% of exams of children reporting such abuse, (Trial Tr. at 662), and gave detailed reasons to the jury why most sexually abused

girls will have normal exams. (*Id.* at 661-75.) O.W. was understandably confused, but the basis of her belief was faulty.

The district court also viewed the affidavit with suspicion in light of the evidence as a whole, including Worthan’s conviction of tampering and his more recent attempts to contact and manipulate the victims. (PCR Doc. 12 at 8-9.) O.W. and K.W. remained steadfast throughout trial with their allegations, even in light of Worthan’s attempts to get O.W. to recant twice in April 2003 and Melissa’s attempts to influence O.W.’s testimony during trial. While, after extended pressure, O.W.’s outlook changed in 2015 after living with Melissa, in 2018, O.W. realized she was being manipulated by her parents and reversed course. (Jessop Aff., ¶ 4.) But in 2019, she changed course again, submitting her improbable affidavit that Worthan had pressured her to submit for years.

Finally, O.W.’s affidavit is further unreliable because K.W. has never recanted. In fact, in 2020, K.W. (now L.B.) offered an affidavit unequivocally stating she was the “victim” of “Kelly Worthan.” (L.B. Aff. at ¶¶ 1, 5.) She expressed trauma from “being sexually abused by Kelly Worthan.” (*Id.* ¶ 5.) K.W.’s trial account of Worthan’s abuse remains unchallenged and is notably similar in nature to O.W.’s trial account, with both of them explaining Worthan’s pattern of behavior of him ordering them into the room, locking the door, sexually abusing them, and ordering them out.

**b. Coaching/physical abuse**

O.W.’s new allegation of Dr. Ruggiero and Prosecutor Fulbright coaching her using “flashcards” and “sign language” in training sessions and at trial, along with Mya and Dr. Ruggiero engaging in physical abuse in therapy sessions, is inconsistent with O.W.’s trial testimony whereupon she repeatedly affirmed she liked and trusted Dr. Ruggiero and neither Dr. Ruggiero nor the prosecutor ever told her what to say at trial, other than Dr. Ruggiero telling her to simply tell the truth. And O.W. and K.W. continued therapy with Dr. Ruggiero until 2008 when the family had to move. According to J.B., both girls were “happy going to counseling sessions,” and maintained a close relationship with Dr. Ruggiero. (J.B. Aff., ¶ 7.) At trial, K.W. and Dr. Ruggiero concurred with O.W.’s trial testimony that all Dr. Ruggiero ever said in therapy sessions prior to trial was to tell the truth. K.W. says the same now:

Dr. Ruggiero and I talked about the emotional part of testifying, such as being nervous and being afraid of Kelly Worthan, but Dr. Ruggiero did not ever tell me what to say in my testimony. Dr. Ruggiero did tell me many times to just tell the truth. I was not told by anyone what to say in my testimony, including my foster mother at that time, Mya Fadely, the prosecutor, Bill Fulbright, or anyone else. I did not need anyone to tell me what to say because I had personally lived through it.

(L.B. Aff., ¶ 3.) K.W. said “nobody” including “Dr. Ruggiero, Mya Fadely, Bill Fulbright and any other person” ever used “flashcards, hand signs or gestures, or any other prompt” for her testimony, nor did anyone hold her down, sit on her,

or any other physical contact regarding her testimony. (*Id.* ¶ 4.) Prosecutor Bill Fulbright concurred:

I can say unequivocally that I never used hand signs or any other prompt to tell [O.W.] what to answer at trial. . . . At no time did I tell [O.W.] what answers to give, put words in her mouth, or do anything else to try and influence her testimony.

(Fulbright Aff., ¶ 2.)

## **2. Fadely documents**

Worthan attempts to connect disparate documents together to form an implausible story of a conspiracy involving the prosecutor, DPHHS, Mya, and Dr. Ruggiero—who all allegedly acted to hide the Fadely abuse and implicate Worthan instead. But none of Worthan’s documents even remotely show Worthan did not engage in the criminal conduct for which he was convicted, much less support his theory of a coverup. Rather, as the district court determined, these documents are buttressed only by Worthan’s own unsupported allegations. A mere allegation in a PCR petition does not constitute evidence. *State v. Hanson*, 1999 MT 226, ¶ 22, 296 Mont. 82, 988 P.2d 299.

First, Worthan points to a CFS case worker’s note that Mya wanted the children removed as somehow “evidence” Mya knew about Brandon Fadely’s abuse and was part of the conspiracy to cover it up. But this is merely an allegation. Any disclosure about Fadely’s abuse did not even come to light until B.F. disclosed in 2011. O.W. disclosed in 2014. And at Worthan’s trial, Mya

readily testified as to trial-related stress, but also conveyed the need for stability for the girls and affirmed her commitment to fostering them throughout the trial. Mya also testified that she never discussed or even questioned either O.W. or K.W. about Worthan's abuse, nor did she tell them what to say. O.W. concurred at Worthan's trial, explaining that all Mya said was to tell the truth.

Dr. Ruggiero being listed as a potential witness for the State in Fadely's 2014 charging document is not proof of a conspiracy or exculpatory. It should not be surprising because she was a long-term therapist for both children until 2008. (J.B. Aff., ¶ 7.)

Finally, O.W.'s unmoored statement in the State's 2014 charging document against Fadely that—at some undisclosed time—“a therapist” became aware of the Fadely abuse, does not establish that Worthan did not commit his crimes, but merely shows that O.W. believed that she told somebody about Fadely's abuse, which necessarily occurred subsequent to her allegations against Worthan and moving to the Fadely household.

### **3. Conclusion**

As the district court correctly concluded, Worthan's mere allegations did not constitute NDE and, under *Clark* factors 3-4, Worthan failed to show any materiality in his evidence nor did Worthan even bother to argue his evidence was not merely impeaching. (PCR Doc. 12 at 8-9.) Worthan's PCR claims fail,

particularly against the backdrop of the record as a whole, including Worthan’s tampering conviction against O.W. and years-long attempts at manipulating both girls. (*Id.* at 9.)

**D. Worthan’s alleged Brady violation does not establish that he did not commit the offenses of which the jury convicted him.**

In analyzing Worthan’s NDE claim under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2),<sup>8</sup> the district court determined that Worthan offered “no credible evidence” of the State’s knowledge and suppression of Fadely’s abuse, other than O.W.’s unreliable affidavit, which nonetheless did not show Worthan did not commit his crime. (PCR Doc. 12 at 6.) The court continued, “for the State to have breached its duty to disclose, it would have had to discover additional information in the form of O.W.’s abuse by Fadely during Petitioner’s initial proceedings and this information would have needed to be exculpatory of Petitioner.” (*Id.*) Thus, the district court correctly decided Worthan’s *Brady* claim failed to afford relief under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2) because it constituted unreliable speculation, not NDE.

---

<sup>8</sup> Worthan also raised a *Schlup v. Delo*, 513 U.S. 298 (1995), gateway claim below, but under Subsection “(2)” the NDE statute. (Doc. 2 at 5.) A *Schlup* claim is only reviewable as a procedurally barred claim under Subsection (1). *Beach II*, ¶¶ 95, 126 (McKinnon, J. concurring.) The State does not address the improperly pled claim, which Worthan appears to abandon on appeal. *See Wilkes v. State*, 2015 MT 243, ¶ 19 n.1, 380 Mont. 388, 355 P.3d 755 (Arguments raised in a petition that are not adequately briefed on appeal are abandoned.)